73116-5

RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Nov 06, 2014, 2:39 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

73114-5 No. <del>90299-2</del>

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

King County Superior Court Cause No. 12-2-33410-2 KNT

#### SUPREME COURT OF

#### THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# FRANCISCO ENTILA and ERLINDA ENTILA,

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

٧.

GERALD COOK,

Defendant/Respondent

# **BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

BRUCE J. LAMBRECHT
WSBA No. 25716
AMY J. GOERTZ
WSBA No. 25173
Goertz & Lambrecht PLLC
536 Bell Street
Edmonds, WA 98020
Telephone: 425-778-8997

Fax: 425-778-8017 Attorneys for Plaintiffs/Appellants



#

IV.		STATEMENT OF THE CASE
A	١.	Chronology of Key Events
В	3.	History of the Case5
V.	S	UMMARY OF ARGUMENT6
VI.		ARGUMENT9
A	١.	RCW § 51.08.013 Applies Only To Injured Workers Seeking Benefits9
В	3.	RCW § 51.08.013 Does Not Grant Immunity To Tortfeasors10
C		To Gain Immunity, A Tortfeasor Must Meet The Common Law Burden Proving He Was Actually Working At the Time Of The Accident12
D	).	Plaintiff Entila's Receipt Of Benefits Is Irrelevant And Inadmissible13
E B	•	Defendant Cook Cannot Introduce Entila's Benefits To Establish That Parties Were "In The Course Of Employment."14
F		Third Party Suits Are Favored
	1ee	Olson v. Stern Denied Immunity To Defendant Stern Because He Did Not the Common Law Burden Of Proving He Was Actively Engaged In k
I.	С	ONCLUSION20

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

# Cases

<b>Rules</b> CR8(c)16
RCW§51.24.1004, 8
RCW § 51.24.060(6)14
RCW § 51.24.050(1)4, 8, 14
RCW § 51.24.035
RCW § 51.08.013
Statutes
Taylor v. Cady, 18 Wn.App. 204 (Wash.App. Div. 3 1977) 566 P.2d 987 16, 18
Superior Asphalt & Concrete Co. v. Department of Labor & Indus., 19 Wash.App. 800, 578 P.2d 59, review denied, 90 Wash.2d 1022 (1978)11
Strachan v. Kitsap County, 27 Wn.App. 271, 616 P.2d 1251, review denied, 94 Wash.2d 1025 (1980)
Springstun v. Wright Schuchart, Inc., 851 P.2d 755, 70 Wn.App. 83 (Wash.App. Div. 1 1993)       14
Jones v. Allstate Ins. Co., 45 P.3d 1068, 146 Wn.2d 291 (Wash. 2002)9
Johnson v. Weyerhauser Co., 134 Wash.2d 795, 798, 953 P.2d 800 (1998)13
Greene v. St. Paul-Mercury Indem. Co., 51 Wash.2d 569, 320 P.2d 31112
Fisher v. Seattle, 62 Wash.2d 800, 384 P.2d 852 (1963)
Evans v. Thompson, 124 Wn.2d 435, 879 P.2d 938 reconsideration denied 1994
Elder v. Cisco Constr. Co., 52 Wash.2d 241, 324 P.2d 1082, 1085 (1958)12
Cox v. Lewiston Grain Growers, Inc., 86 Wash.App 357, 936 P.2d 1191 (1997)13

# **Treatises**

1 A. Larson, The Law of Workmen's Compensation, Ch. 1 (1978)	10		
2A Arthur Larson, Workmen's Compensation § 72.23, at 14-117 (19	87)16		
Other Authorities			
Reply Brief of Appellants, Olson v. Stern, 65 Wn.2d 871, P.2d 3	305 (1965)		

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Just after 6:30 a.m on February 18, 2010, Defendant Gerald Cook completed his shift at Boeing and walked to the employee parking area. Cook got in his car and, without scraping his frosted windshield, drove out of the employee parking lot with only a small unobscured area at the bottom of the windshield. Defendant Cook struck Plaintiff Entila as he walked across an avenue of traffic a few feet from the parking area. Defendant Cook states he never saw Mr. Entila. He tested positive for marijuana after the incident. Defendant Cook is an insured driver with substantial coverage from Allstate. Allstate refused to offer to settle the claim, insisting that Defendant Cook had immunity as an employee on the jobsite under RCW Title 51. Entila filed a civil suit against Cook and brought a Motion for Summary Judgment arguing that Cook was not on the job and therefore not entitled to immunity. Judge Marianne Spearman ruled that the issue was a question for the jury. After a trial continuance, Judge James Casey was assigned to the case and Defendant Cook brought his own Summary Judgment Motion. Defendant Cook argued that because he and Entila were both 'going from work on the jobsite,' RCW § 51.08.013 deemed them both "acting in the course of employment" giving Entila benefits and Cook immunity. Judge Cayce granted Defendant Cook's Motion for immunity. Plaintiff Entila filed a timely Notice of Appeal to this Supreme Court.

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. The superior court erred by applying artificial "in the course of employment" status under RCW § 51.08.013 to both the injured worker seeking benefits and the tortfeasor seeking immunity when it only applies to injured workers seeking benefits. CP 380-381.
- B. The superior court erred by not requiring the tortfeasor to meet the longstanding common law test of proving he was actually doing work for his employer in order to gain immunity. CP 380-381.
- C. The superior court erred by considering evidence that the injured worker received benefits in the evaluation of immunity for the tortfeasor when such evidence is not only irrelevant but inadmissible under RCW § 51.24.100 and the common law collateral source rule. CP 380-381.
- D. The superior court erred in denying the injured employee's constitutional and statutory right to sue the at-fault party, when such actions are encouraged under RCW § 51.24.050(1) to allow the injured employee to be made whole and for the self-insured employer and/or state to collect from the at-fault party under subrogation. CP 380-381.

#### III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. Does RCW § 51.08.013 apply artificial "in the course of employment" status exclusively to the injured worker seeking benefits and not to the tortfeasor seeking immunity? (Assignment of Error #1.)
- B. Does the tortfeasor bear the burden of proving under the common that he was actually doing work in the interest of his employer in order to gain immunity? (Assignment of Error #2.)
- C. Is evidence as to whether the injured worker received benefits admissible for the purposes of determining immunity for the tortfeasor? (Assignment of Error #3.)
- D. Does an injured worker have a constitutional and statutory right to bring a civil suit against a negligent driver who injures him on the jobsite when the tortfeasor is not on the job? (Assignment of Error #4.)

# IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# A. Chronology of Key Events.

After his work shift, just after 6:30 a.m. on February 18,
 2010, Defendant Cook clocked out and walked to his vehicle
 in an employee parking lot on Boeing property. CP 241.

- 2. Without removing the frost and fog from his windshield, Defendant Cook drove his personal vehicle out of the Boeing parking lot and onto a Boeing avenue of traffic, where he struck pedestrian Plaintiff Francisco Entila. CP 242.
- Plaintiff Francisco Entila was walking across the avenue of traffic towards the parking lot when he was struck by Mr. Cook's vehicle. CP 242.
- Cook did not see Entila through his frosted windshield. CP
   242.
- Cook did not hit the brakes before hitting Mr. Entila; he testified that when he heard the impact he thought someone had thrown a backpack onto his car. CP 250.
- Defendant Cook was commuting home and not acting in the course and scope of his employment. CP 246
- After the accident, Cook failed a drug test (tested positive for marijuana) and was terminated by Boeing when he refused to attend a drug and alcohol rehabilitation program.
   CP 248.
- 8. Cook is an insured driver with Allstate. CP 49-55.

# B. History of the Case.

- The parties were scheduled to attend mediation on April 4,
   2012. Mr. Cook's insurer, Allstate, unilaterally cancelled the mediation proposing the theory that Defendant Cook was artificially "acting in the course of employment" under RCW § 51.08.013 and thus immune from suit. CP 49-55.
- 2. Allstate refused to negotiate or engage in settlement discussions unless and until the issue of immunity was heard by the court, forcing Plaintiffs to file suit on October 11, 2012, and bring a Motion for Summary Judgment on the issue, which was fully briefed by the parties and heard by Judge Marianne Spearman on February 14, 2013. CP 49-55.
- 3. At that time, the options before Judge Spearman were to deny immunity; grant immunity; or decide that the issue was a question of fact for the jury. Judge Spearman ruled that the issue was a question of fact for the jury. CP 195-196.
- 4. Neither side brought a Motion for Reconsideration or appealed the decision.
- 5. Allstate then brought the same motion when a new judge,
  James Cayce, was assigned to the case. CP 197.
- 6. Judge Cayce granted Defendant Cook immunity. CP 380.

#### V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

When an employee is injured, RCW § 51.08.013 generously bestows artificial "acting in the course of employment" status for those coming and going on the jobsite in order for them to qualify for workers compensation benefits. The "parking lot rule" in RCW § 51.08.013 provides a limited exception to this general rule and in some circumstances excludes the injured worker from obtaining benefits when the injury occurs in a parking area. The language of the statute makes it clear it applies exclusively for injured workers seeking benefits and has nothing to do with immunity for uninjured tortfeasors; "It is not necessary that at the time an injury is sustained by a worker he or she is doing the work on which his or her compensation is based." RCW § 51.08.013. Thus, the statute affords Plaintiff Entila a wide latitude in qualifying for benefits despite the fact that he was, at the time of his injury, walking to his car and not actually engaged in work. On the contrary, the statute does not provide Defendant Cook the same broad range to gain immunity; he must prove that he was actively engaged in work for his employer.

There is no case law in Washington in which a tortfeasor is granted immunity based on the broad artificial "in the course of employment" language of RCW § 51.08.013. The statute is inappropriate for the determination of immunity for a tortfeasor; he or she must meet the test

under the common law. In fact, the only time "immunity" appears in Title 51 is in RCW § 51.24.035 with regard to design professionals on a construction project, which has no application here.

To gain immunity, the at-fault worker must bear the common law burden of proving that he or she was actually engaged in work for the benefit of the employer. This court has confirmed the common law burden applies to those seeking immunity in each case that has come up on appeal. There is no case law in Washington where immunity is granted to an employee tortfeasor was not actually working at the time the injury occurs.

The trial court erred in granting immunity to tortfeasor Cook who admits that he was not actually performing any work. CP 198. The court incorrectly applied artificial "acting in the course of employment" status under RCW § Title 51.08.013 equally to the injured worker and the tortfeasor.

The superior court further erred in considering evidence that Plaintiff Entila received benefits. Such evidence bears no impact on the issue of immunity and, further, is inadmissible under Title 51 and the common law collateral source rule. RCW§51.24.100 specifically states, "The fact that the injured worker or beneficiary is entitled to compensation under this title shall not be pleaded or admissible in evidence in any third-party action under this chapter," which aligns with the common law theory

of the collateral source rule. The trial court accepted Defendant Cook's argument that he and Plaintiff Entila should have the same "on the job" status because both had finished their respective work shifts and were preparing to leave the jobsite, and since Entila received benefits, Cook should be entitled to immunity.

Defendant Cook also argued that Plaintiff Entila's receipt of benefits is an exclusive remedy and restricts his ability to pursue a civil claim against the negligent driver who struck him down as he walked to his car. Title 51 recognizes the right of an injured worker to be fully compensated, which includes the right to sue a negligent third-party. In fact, recovery against a third-party is favored as it creates a right of subrogation in the self-insured employer or the Department of Labor and Industries. If the injured worker does not pursue action against a third party with private counsel, the right to do so is assigned to the Department of Labor and Industries. RCW § 51.24.050(1)

The court's decision to grant immunity to a negligent driver who was not doing any work, and, in the case at hand, under the influence of marijuana, leads to a grossly inequitable result. In cases like this, where the non-working tortfeasor was driving his personal vehicle, the auto insurance carrier should pay for its insured's negligence. The tortfeasor cannot rely on RCW § Title 51.08.013 to relieve him of responsibility for

his own negligence when he is not in the course of employment. Granting immunity to non-working employees unjustly results in taxpayers and employers bearing the cost of gross negligence by employees engaged in activities unrelated to the business of the employer and leaves the employer or state with no ability to seek reimbursement/subrogation against the atfault party.

#### VI. ARGUMENT

The standard of review of an order of summary judgment is de novo, and the appellate court performs the same inquiry as the trial court. The court considers the facts and the inferences from the facts in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Jones v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 45 P.3d 1068, 146 Wn.2d 291, 301 (Wash. 2002). In the case at hand, Plaintiff Entila is the nonmoving party and is entitled to the most favorable interpretation of the facts presented.

# A. RCW § 51.08.013 Applies Only To Injured Workers Seeking Benefits.

When an employee is injured, RCW § 51.08.013 generously bestows artificial "acting in the course of employment" status for those coming and going on the jobsite in order for them to qualify for workers compensation benefits. The "parking lot rule" in RCW § 51.08.013 provides a limited exception to this general rule and in some circumstances

excludes the injured worker from obtaining benefits when the injury occurs in a parking area. The language in the statute makes it clear that it applies for injured workers seeking benefits and has nothing to do with immunity for tortfeasors:

"It is not necessary that at the time *an injury is sustained by a worker* he or she is doing the work on which his or her compensation is based." RCW § 51.08.013 (emphasis added)

# B. RCW § 51.08.013 Does Not Grant Immunity To Tortfeasors.

The topic of immunity for tortfeasors causing injury to fellow employees is not discussed in Title 51 with the singular exception in RCW § 51.24.035, which applies to design professionals on a construction project, which has no application here.

Washington courts have noted that RCW § 51.08.013 was intended to broadly construe "course of employment" to assist injured workers in obtaining benefits and have rejected the broad construction of "course of employment" for tortfeasors seeking immunity stating,

To effectuate the legislative intent to provide compensation to injured workers without regard to fault, courts have broadly construed the statutory term "course of employment." RCW § 51.08.013. See generally, 1A. Larson, The Law of Workmen's Compensation, Ch. 1 (1978). Imposition of vicarious tort liability, however, is based on common law negligence principles which do not require a broad construction of the term. Strachan v. Kitsap

County, 27 Wn.App. 271, 275, 616 P.2d 1251, review denied, 94 Wash.2d 1025 (1980).

There is no Washington case that has granted immunity to a tortfeasor based on the broad artificial "in the course of employment" language of RCW § 51.08.013, which was never intended to insulate tortfeasors from liability and usurp common law negligence principles. The purpose of RCW § 51.08.013 was to expand opportunities for injured workers seeking benefits in workers compensation cases, which differs from the common law applied to tortfeasors seeking immunity in tort cases, as stated,

(t)he basic purpose for which the rules of vicarious liability were used at common law is different from the purpose of the rules used in compensation law." *Strachan v. Kitsap County*, 27 Wn.App. 271, 275, 616 P.2d 1251, 1254, review denied 94 Wash.2d 1025 (1980) citing *Fisher v. Seattle*, 62 Wash.2d 800, 803-804, 384 P.2d 852, 854 (1963) (emphasis added).

Here, Defendant Cook admits that he wasn't working. CP 198. He is not entitled to avail himself of the broad interpretations of Title 51 and instead must prove he is immune under the common law principles of negligence.

# C. <u>To Gain Immunity</u>, A <u>Tortfeasor Must Meet The Common Law Burden</u> <u>Of Proving He Was Actually Working At the Time Of The Accident</u>.

Defendant Cook had the burden to prove his immunity and he did not do so. "[T]he burden is on the defendant to establish immunity as coemployees. *Evans v. Thompson*, 124 Wn.2d 435 (Wash. 1994) 879 P.2d 938 reconsideration denied 1994 citing CR8(c); *Superior Asphalt & Concrete Co. v. Department of Labor & Indus.*, 19 Wash.App. 800, 804, 578 P.2d 59, review denied, 90 Wash.2d 1022 (1978). Defendant Cook presented no evidence to show that he was entitled to immunity but instead relied on his assertion that the court was bound to grant him immunity if Plaintiff Entila received benefits. The court erred in considering the separate and distinct issues of immunity and benefits as two sides of the same coin. While the injured worker seeking benefits, Entila, is within the application of RCW § 51.08.013, Washington law requires the tortfeasor seeking immunity, Cook, to meet the common law test for being actively engaged in his employer's interest, as follows,

The test adopted by this court for determining whether an employee is, at a given time, in the course of his employment, is whether the employee was, at the time, engaged in the performance of the duties required of him by his contract of employment, or by specific direction of his employer; or, as sometimes stated, whether he was engaged at the time in the furtherance of the employer's interest." *Strachan v. Kitsap County*, 27 Wn.App. 271, 616 P.2d 1251, review denied, 94 Wash.2d 1025 (1980) citing *Elder v. Cisco Constr. Co.*, 52 Wash.2d 241, 245, 324 P.2d 1082, 1085

(1958), quoting *Greene v. St. Paul-Mercury Indem. Co.*, 51 Wash.2d 569, 320 P.2d 311 (1958).

In *Strachan*, an off-duty city police officer accidentally shot and injured Strachan, a county sheriff, after completing his shift as a police officer and while assisting Strachan in performing county duties at the time of the accident. *Strachan* at 272. The court denied immunity and ruled that the accidental shooting was outside the scope of his employment. *Strachan* at 274. Likewise in the case at hand, there is no evidence in the record to support a finding that Defendant Cook was acting in the scope of his employment when he was negligently driving his frost-covered vehicle. As in the *Strachan* case, when viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, Entila, it cannot be said that Defendant Cook was acting in furtherance of his employer's interest.

#### D. Plaintiff Entila's Receipt Of Benefits Is Irrelevant And Inadmissible.

Defendant Cook argues that since Boeing paid Plaintiff Entila benefits as a result of his injuries, Boeing must have deemed Entila as "in the course of employment" and Defendant Cook should have the same status. The superior court erred in considering Plaintiff Entila's receipt of benefits as a factor in the immunity of Defendant Cook because it is irrelevant as well as inadmissible. Whether an injured worker receives benefits bears no impact

on the issue of immunity for the tortfeasor and, further, such evidence is inadmissible under Title 51 and the common law collateral source rule. RCW § 51.24.100 states, "The fact that the injured worker or beneficiary is entitled to compensation under this title shall not be pleaded or admissible in evidence in any third-party action under this chapter."

This statute aligns with the court's general exclusion of evidence that the plaintiff has received compensation from a third-party for an injury for which the defendant has liability. *Johnson v. Weyerhauser Co.*, 134 Wash.2d 795, 798, 953 P.2d 800 (1998). The rule is designed to prevent the wrongdoer from benefitting from third-party payments. *Cox v. Lewiston Grain Growers, Inc.*, 86 Wash.App 357, 375, 936 P.2d 1191 (1997).

# E. <u>Defendant Cook Cannot Introduce Entila's Benefits To Establish That Both Parties Were "In The Course Of Employment."</u>

Boeing's payment of benefits is not a binding precedent that both parties were in the course of employment; it is a collateral source and should be disregarded by the court. The court is not bound by Boeing's decision to pay benefits while Mr. Entila pursues his claim against Cook; it merely creates a right of subrogation for Boeing. Mr. Entila's receipt of time loss or other benefits gives Boeing the right to reimbursement and by no means precludes the court from finding that a negligent driver in his personal

vehicle after work hours should face consequences for his actions. The Industrial Insurance Act provides [Boeing] with a right of reimbursement by subrogation from any third-party recoveries under RCW § 51.24.060(6). *Springstun v. Wright Schuchart, Inc.*, 851 P.2d 755, 70 Wn.App. 83 (Wash.App. Div. 1 1993).

#### F. Third Party Suits Are Favored.

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