. 73116-5

13116-5

73116.5

NO. 90299-2

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FRANCISCO ENTILA and ERLINDA ENTILA, husband and wife, and the marital community composed thereof,

Appellants,

vs.

GERALD COOK and JANE DOE COOK, husband and wife, and the marital community composed thereof,

Respondents.

APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT Honorable James Cayce, Judge

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

REED McCLURE By Marilee C. Erickson WSBA #16144 **Attorneys for Respondents**

Address:

Financial Center 1215 Fourth Avenue, Suite 1700 Seattle, WA 98161-1087 (206) 292-4900

Received Court Washington State Supreme Court

DEC 24 2014 Ronald R. Carpenter Clerk

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. THIS COURT'S REVIEW IS DE NOVO.

This case comes to the Court from a summary judgment ruling. This Court's review is de novo. *Harris v. Ski Park Farms, Inc.*, 120 Wn.2d 727, 737, 844 P.2d 1006 (1993), *cert. denied*, 510 U.S. 1047 (1994). Summary judgment is appropriate if the record demonstrates no genuine issues of material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Reid v. Pierce County*, 136 Wn.2d 195, 201, 961 P.2d 333 (1998).

There is no factual dispute here. The record on summary judgment establishes that Mr. Entila and Mr. Cook were both leaving work in an area controlled by their employer that was not a parking lot. When Mr. Entila was injured, he was in the course of employment. The Industrial Insurance Act applies and Mr. Cook is immune from liability in a civil action. This Court should affirm.

B. MR. COOK IS IMMUNE BECAUSE PURSUANT TO RCW 51.08.013 MR. COOK AND MR. ENTILA WERE "ACTING IN THE COURSE OF EMPLOYMENT."

The IIA applies to workers who are injured while "acting in the course of employment." RCW 51.08.013 defines that phrase to include

time spent going to and from work at times "immediate to the actual time the worker is engaged" in work "in areas controlled by the employer" **except** for parking areas.

RCW 51.08.013 defines acting the course of employment under

Washington's Industrial Insurance Act. The statute provides:

1) "Acting in the course of employment" means the worker acting at his or her employer's direction or in the furtherance of his or her employer's business which shall include time spent going to and from work on the jobsite, as defined in RCW 51.32.015 and 51.36.040, insofar as such time is immediate to the actual time that the worker is engaged in the work process in areas controlled by his or her employer, except parking area. It is not necessary that at the time an injury is sustained by a worker he or she is doing the work on which his or her compensation is based or that the event is within the time limits on which industrial insurance or medical aid premiums or assessments are paid.

(Emphasis added.)

RCW 51.32.015 and RCW 51.36.040 establish the meaning of

going to and from work at the job site. The statutes are nearly identical.

Each statute provides:

The benefits of Title 51 RCW shall be provided to each worker receiving an injury, as defined therein, during the course of his or her employment and also during his or her lunch period as established by the employer while on the jobsite. The jobsite shall consist of the premises as are occupied, used or contracted for by the employer for the business of¹ work process in which the

¹ RCW 51.36.040 is "of" instead of "or." The "of" seems to be a typographical error. *In re Hamilton*, 77 Wn.2d 355, 358-59 & n.1, 462 P.2d 917 (1969).

employer is then engaged: PROVIDED, That if a worker by reason of his or her employment leaves such jobsite under the direction, control or request of the employer and if such worker is injured during his or her lunch period while so away from the jobsite, the worker shall receive the benefits as provided herein: AND PROVIDED FURTHER, That the employer need not consider the lunch period in worker hours for the purpose of reporting to the department unless the worker is actually paid for such period of time.

(Emphasis added.)

This case fits the statutory provisions of RCW 51.08.013. Both Mr. Entila and Mr. Cook were going from the work site. The accident and injury occurred just after the completion of their shifts so it was "immediate to the actual" work time. The accident and injury occurred in an area controlled by Boeing, the employer of Mr. Entila and Mr. Cook. The accident did not occur in a parking area or parking lot. Applying these undisputed facts to the statutes – RCW 51.08.013, 51.32.015, and RCW 51.36.040—the conclusion is that Mr. Entila and Mr. Cook were acting in the course of their employment so the Industrial Insurance Act applies and creates immunity.

Mr. Entila argues that only the injured worker is entitled to the protection of the IIA because no Washington case has granted immunity to a co-worker tortfeasor based on RCW 51.08.013. (App. Br. 11) He contends, without citing to any supporting legal authority, that the purpose of RCW 51.08.013 was to "expand opportunities for injured workers

seeking benefits in workers compensation cases." *Id.* Assuming for the sake of argument that expanding an injured worker's opportunity to obtain benefits is a purpose of the statute, it does not necessarily follow that the purpose is that a negligent co-worker is not protected by the statutory immunity.

Mr. Entila quotes from *Strachan v. Kitsap County*, 27 Wn. App. 271, 616 P.2d 1251, *rev. denied*, 94 Wn.2d 1025 (1980), as support for his contention that tortfeasors are not entitled to a broad construction of RCW 51.08.013's "course of employment" definition. The *Strachan* case is distinguishable. There a Poulsbo police officer accidently shot and injured a Kitsap County deputy sheriff. The officer had completed his shift. He was assisting the deputy in performing county police duties. 27 Wn. App. at 272.

The injured deputy argued Kitsap County was liable for the officer's actions. The County argued against liability because the officer's actions were outside the scope of his policing role. In addressing the issue of the scope of the officer's role, the Court of Appeals looked at *Tilly v. Department of Labor & Indus.*, 52 Wn.2d 148, 324 P.2d 432 (1958). *Tilly* stands for the proposition that in the industrial insurance setting, minor acts of horseplay may fall within the course of employment. The *Strachan*

court concluded the *Tilly* rationale about what acts are within the course of employment, did not apply to create liability for the County.

Strachan considered whether an industrial insurance case about scope of employment could be applied to determine whether the County could be vicariously liable for the officer's conduct. The *Strachan* court did acknowledge the different policies between industrial insurance and tort law. The court did not, however, hold that the industrial insurance laws do not apply to tortfeasors.

Mr. Entila argues that Mr. Cook is not entitled to immunity because Mr. Cook was not working at the time of the accident. (App. Br. 11) The record is undisputed that both Mr. Entila and Mr. Cook had ended their work shift. (CP 2, 168, 198) In the ordinary understanding of facts, neither man was working. Yet, the statutory definitions must be applied to these facts.

Mr. Entila cites to *Evans v. Thompson*, 124 Wn.2d 435, 444, 879 P.2d 938 (1994) and *Superior Asphalt & Concrete Co. v. Department of Labor & Indus.*, 19 Wn. App. 800, 804, 578 P.2d 59, *rev. denied*, 90 Wn. 2d 1022 (1978), for the rule that a co-employee must prove he is entitled to immunity. In *Evans*, the Supreme Court considered the issue of whether officers and directors of a corporate employer were immune as co-employees when at least one of the officers and directors was not employed by the corporation. 124 Wn.2d at 437. *Evans* did not concern the question of what the particular co-employee was doing. The question was whether the person was or was not a co-employee. Therefore, the *Evans* case does not support Mr. Entila's argument.

Superior Asphalt did address the question of whether a person was acting within his scope of employment. The person died in an automobile accident twelve hours after leaving the job. He worked in Mossyrock and on the weekends drove home to Ellensburg, typically a three- to four-hour drive. His widow sought benefits under the IIA. Benefits were denied. The court concluded he had left his course of employment and was engaged in a frolic of his own. 19 Wn. App. at 804. *Superior Asphalt* is distinctly different and does not support Mr. Entila's argument here.

Here there is no question that Mr. Cook was in the course of employment as defined by RCW 51.08.013.

C. THE PROHIBITION ON ADMITTING WORKER'S COMPENSATION BENEFITS IN A CIVIL ACTION UNDER THE COLLATERAL SOURCE RULE HAS NO BEARING ON THE LEGAL ISSUE HERE.

Mr. Entila contends that two evidentiary provisions control the question of immunity here. (App. Br. 13-15) He contends that the fact of his eligibility for industrial insurance benefits, i.e. that he was injured in the course of employment, has no bearing on the legal issue of whether Mr. Cook, his co-employee, is entitled to immunity. Both RCW

51.24.100 and the common law collateral source rule prohibit a jury from hearing evidence about an injured plaintiff's industrial insurance benefits. These evidentiary provisions do not control the question of co-employee immunity.

1

This case presents the legal issue of whether Mr. Entila and Mr. Cook were in the course of employment as defined in RCW 51.08.013. Both were leaving their shift, they were both in an area owned and controlled by their employer, and that area was not a parking area or parking lot. Washington's legislature determined by adopting RCW 51.08.013 that under these circumstances, a person is in the course of employment. If Mr. Entila is dissatisfied with this statute, his remedy is to seek changes from the legislature, not the courts.

Washington courts have looked to the injured employee's receipt of benefits in analyzing whether the injured employee has a right to pursue a third party action. In *Orris v. Lingley*, 172 Wn. App. 61, 288 P.3d 1159 (2012), *rev. denied*, 177 Wn.2d 1020 (2013), Orris was seriously injured in a motor vehicle accident. Orris's co-worker, Lingley, was driving the vehicle, the employer's truck. The accident occurred on their commute home. Lingley was killed in the accident. Orris sought and was given IIA benefits. Orris then sued Lingley's estate. The Lingely estate successfully moved for summary judgment on the basis that Orris's suit was precluded by the IIA. On appeal, Orris argued there were factual issues about whether he and Lingley were acting in the course of employment. The Court of Appeals reversed finding issues of fact regarding whether Lingley was so intoxicated that he had abandoned the course of employment and whether his driving of the employer's vehicle was done in furtherance of the employer's business.

Orris also argued there were questions about whether he was acting in the course of employment. The Court of Appeals rejected the argument. The Court of Appeals concluded that Orris was estopped from both accepting benefits premised on his injury occurring in the course of his employment and then later pursuing a negligence suit against his coemployee. The Court explained:

> Orris's receipt of benefits makes worker's compensation his exclusive remedy, except where the Act specifically authorizes an alternate remedy. Our Supreme Court has recognized that an injured employee may sue a negligent coemployee when the coemployee was acting outside the course of employment. But there is no corresponding rule that an injured employee who has received benefits may sue a negligent coemployee when *the injured employee* was acting outside the course of employment.

> The Act's strong and unequivocal language forecloses Orris from bringing a tort suit premised on the argument that he was outside the course of employment after accepting substantial L&I benefits.

> . . . Orris's acceptance of industrial insurance benefits precludes all remedies except those specifically authorized . . .

172 Wn.2d at 69-71 (internal citations omitted; emphasis in original). Thus, it is clear that the injured worker's receipt of benefits is a relevant and important factor in deciding immunity.

D. THIRD PARTY ACTIONS ARE LIMITED TO THOSE WHO ARE NOT IN THE SAME EMPLOY.

Mr. Entila argues that third party actions are favored and under that general theory, Mr. Cook should not be immune from liability. Mr. Entila fails to address that the Washington legislature has specifically limited third party actions to those who are not co-employees. RCW 51.24.030(1) states:

If a third person, **not in a worker's same employ**, is or may become liable to pay damages on account of a worker's injury for which benefits and compensation are provided under this title, the injured worker or beneficiary may elect to seek damages from the third person.

(Emphasis added.) The statute gives the worker the option of pursuing a third party action. And if the worker chooses to pursue a third party action, the worker must give notice to the Department of Labor & Industries or the self-insurer. RCW 51.24.030(2).

An employee injured by a coworker's negligence is limited to the remedies provided by the IIA. RCW 51.04.010. RCW 51.24.030 specifically prohibits third party actions against a worker's co-employee. *Wilson v. Boots*, 57 Wn. App. 734, 736, 790 P.2d 192, *rev. denied*, 115 Wn.2d 1015 (1990). While the IIA permits third party actions, an action

against a co-employee is not a third party action. Mr. Entila's exclusive remedies are under the IIA. Mr. Cook, his co-employee, is not a third party. Both Mr. Entila and Mr. Cook were acting in the course of employment going to and from work on the jobsite immediately after their shift in an area controlled by Boeing, their employer, and that area was not a parking area or parking lot. The IIA applies here and Mr. Entila is barred from suing Mr. Cook, his co-employee.

E. OLSON V. STERN IS NOT DISPOSITIVE.

Mr. Entila argues for reversal relying on *Olson v. Stern*, 65 Wn.2d 871, 400 P.2d 305 (1965). (App. Br. 16-20). While *Olson v. Stern* did involve a negligence action against co-workers, it does not control here. The *Olson* case involved a parking lot accident. That fact alone distinguishes *Olson* from the present case.

Olson involved a lawsuit for personal injuries for a motor vehicle accident. Olson was driving a three-wheeled scooter as part of his job. Stern, a co-employee, was driving his own vehicle and was headed home from work. The accident occurred in a parking area. The defendant driver, Stern, asserted he was immune from liability because the accident fit with the Industrial Insurance Act.

The Court determined the IIA did not apply. The conclusion turned on two rationales: the defendant was not performing a work related task and the accident occurred in a parking area. The *Olson* court explained:

Respondent Sam Stern . . . had finished his day's work; he had completed his tasks for the day, and in driving out of the *parking area* 15 minutes after leaving his office, he was neither "acting at his employer's direction" nor "in the furtherance of his employer's business" (RCW 51.08.013), nor was he en route to a jobsite. . . . As to him, the place assigned to him for parking his car could not be said to constitute a jobsite under the workmen's compensation statutes, but rather it was, as the legislature described it, a parking area and, therefore, exempt from the workmen's compensation statutes.

65 Wn.2d at 877 (emphasis in original).

The holding in *Olson* is limited to its facts. The facts were that the accident occurred in the parking lot. Because it was in a parking area, Mr. Stern did not fit the statutory definition of being in the course of employment.

Mr. Entila urges this Court to conclude that the site of the accident is not crucial. He contends that *Olson v. Stern* was not decided based on the location of the accident. (App. Br. at 19). Mr. Entila quotes from and relies upon *Taylor v. Cady*, 18 Wn. App. 204, 566 P.2d 987 (1977), and the *Taylor* court's interpretation of *Olson*. In *Taylor*, the plaintiff and defendant were co-employees. Defendant had started his car in the employee parking lot. He then returned to the office building to perform a task for the employer. While inside the office, defendant's car rolled back and hit and injured plaintiff. Plaintiff sued defendant for negligence. The negligence case was dismissed because the defendant was immune under the IIA.

Although the accident occurred in the parking area, Division III of the Court of Appeals noted that the parking area exception of RCW 51.08.013 did not apply. The Court concluded that the defendant was engaged in performing his job. Therefore, the defendant was immune from liability under Title 51 RCW.

The *Taylor* court rejected plaintiff's argument that because the accident occurred in the parking lot, the IIA did not apply. The *Taylor* court pointed to the *Olson v. Stern* case stating that *Olson*'s holding that the co-employee was not immune "not because the negligent act occurred in a parking area, but because he was not acting in the course of his employment." 18 Wn. App. at 207.

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